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I. INTRODUCTION

l. This Complaint is filed by Complainant Glycosyn LLC (“Glycosyn” or

“Complainant”) pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337

(“Section 337”).

2. Glycosyn brings this action to remedy violations of Section 337 arising from the

unlawful and unauthorized importation into the United States, the sale for importation into the

United States, the sale within the United States after importation, and the production and/or the

‘manufacture, of 2'-fucosyllactose oligosaccharides that directly infringe, contributorily infringe,

and/or induce the infringement of one or more claims of Glyc0syn’s United States Patent No.

9,453,230 (“the ’230 Patent”). As required by Commission Rules 2l0.l2(a)(9)(i)-(ii), copies of

the certified ‘Z30Patent and its assignment records are attached as Exhibits l and 2, respectively.

3. The proposed Respondents are Jennewein Biotechnologie GmbH (“Jennewein”),

and its distribution partner for the United States market, DKSH North America, Inc. (“DKSH”).

4. On information and belief, Jennewein currently directly infringes, contributorily

infringes, and/or induces the infringement of, Glycosyn’s ’230 Patent, literally, or under the

doctrine of equivalents, by engaging in a process utilized in producing its human milk

oligosaccharide 2’-FL (“Jennewein 2’-FL”), that Jennewein and/or DKSH imports into the

United States, sells for importation into the United States, sells in the United States after

importation, and/or instructs others regarding the use and importation thereof.

5. Glycosyn asserts that its 2’-FL (“Glycosyn 2'-FL”) practices at least one claim of

the ’230 Patent.

6. To remedy Respondents’ continuing and unlawful violation of Section 337,

Glycosyn seeks as permanent relief a limited exclusion order pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § l337(d)

barring from entry into the United States all of Jennewein’s 2’-FL products that directly
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infringe, contributorily infringe, and/or induce the infringement, literally, or under the doctrine

ofequivalents, of one or more of the claims of the ’230 Patent. Glycosyn also seeks cease and

desist orders pursuant to l9 U.S.C. § l337(i) prohibiting Respondents from engaging in the

importation into the United States, and/or the sale within the United States after importation, of

2’-FL products that infringe, either directly or indirectly, one or more claims of the ’230 Patent.

7. Further, Glycosyn requests that the Commission impose a bond upon

Respondents’ importation of infringing 2'-FL products during the 60-day Presidential review

period pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 13376) to prevent fiuther injury to Glycosyn’s domestic industry

in the ’230 Patent.

II. THE PARTIES

A. Complainant Glycosyn LLC

8. Complainant Glycosyn is a domestic corporation organized and existing under the

laws of Massachusetts, with its headquarters located at 890 Winter Street, Suite 208, Waltham,

MA 02451 , and its laboratory facilities are located at 6-H Gill Street, Woburn, Massachusetts

0l80l. Ex. 3, Declaration of Howard M. Newburg (“Newburg Decl.”) atjl 5.

9. Pursuant to Commission Rules 2l0.l2(a)(7), (a)(9)(ii), Glycosyn is the sole owner

by assignment of all right, title, and interest in each Asseited Patent. Ex. 2, Certified Assignment

Record for the ’230 Patent at Reel 027928, Frame 0149. '

10. Glyc0syn’s predecessor, Glycosyn, Inc., was incorporated as a Massachusetts

corporation on February 26, 2002. Glycosyn, Inc. became Glycosyn Management, LLC on

January 19, 2007, and then became Glycosyn LLC in 2012.

ll. Glyco_syn’sbusiness address is 890 Winter Street, Suite 208, Waltham, MA

02451, and its laboratory facilities are located at 6-H Gill Street, Woburn, Massachusetts 01801.

Glycosyn has no facilities or employees outside the United States.
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12. Glycosyn was founded in 2002 to commercialize and enhance discoveries from

three decades of pioneering academic research by its scientific founders: Dr. David S. Newburg,

PhD, Dr. Ardythe Morrow, PhD of the Cincinnati Children’s Research Foundation, and Dr.

Guillermo Ruiz-Palacios, MD of the Institute Nacional de Ciencias Medicas y Nutricion-Mexico.

These scientists discovered natural, anti-infective components in human milk, and demonstrated

that these components provide significant protection against infectious diarrhea.

13. Glycosyn’s mission is to enhance health through genetic engineering, and is

primarily focused on developing effective and cost efficient methods for synthesizing, producing

and demonstrating the health benefits of Human Milk Oligosaccharides (HMOs), major

components of human milk. Glycosyn and its partners are developing its HMOs products for

infant formula, and for child and adult nutrition. Glycosyn’s HMOs are effective in treating

causes of child and adult diarrhea and respiratory infections, and may also impact a variety of

disease conditions. 1

14. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.'12(a)(7), Glycosyn has developed technology

to manufacture HMOs through biosynthesis, including the HMOs most common in a mothcr’s

milk. Although small quantities can also be produced using chemical or enzymatic synthesis,

only biosynthesis can produce industrial quantities at reasonable cost, and Glycosyn’s production

strain allow for this industrial scale production of its 2'-FL (“Glycosyn 2'-FL”).

15. Glycosyn’s primary oligosaccharide is 2'-fucosyllactose (2’-FL)—one of the most

abundant HMO in human milk. Glycosyn has developed a proprietary engineered and patented E.

coli 2’-FL production strain, and a scalable 2'-FL fermentation/purification process. Glycosyn has

also contracted with a major global company for commercial global production and distribution of

Glycosyn 2'-FL.
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16. In 2007, Glycosyn hired Dr. John M. McCoy, PhD, a senior industry professional

with 30 years of experience in biotechnology and biopharmaceutieals, as Glycosyn’s Chief

Scientific Officer.

17. At the time that Glycosyn hired Dr. McCoy in 2007, Glycosyn established

laboratory facilities in Medford, Massachusetts (recently relocated to Woburn, Massachusetts in

2016), and began hiring research and development scientists experienced in microbial genetics,

fermentation, and purification.

l8. Presently, Glycosyn manufactures, tests, researches, develops, and licenses its

own proprietary technology in Massachusetts, and supports its production partner and licensee

FrieslandCampina for global production and distribution of its product.

B. The Proposed Respondents

19. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l O.l2(a)(4), with regard to the proposed

Respondents, Glycosyn alleges the following on information and belief:

1. Jennewein Biotechnologie GmbH

20. Respondent Jennewein Biotechnologie GmbH (“Jennewein”) is a German

corporation headquartered at Maarweg 32, D-53619 Rheinbreitbach, Germany.

21. Jennewein Biotechnologie manufactures functional sugars for a wide range of

applications. Specifically, Jennewein manufactures and imports complex oligosaccharides, and

either itself and/or through the activities of its affiliates, is in the business of producing,

manufacturing, selling for importation, selling in the United States after importation, and/or

importing into the United States its human milk oligosaccharide 2'-FL that is manufactured

outside of the United States.
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2. DKSH North America, Inc.

22. Respondent DKSH North America, lnc. (“DKSH”) is a New Jersey corporation

headquartered at 350 Clark Drive, Suite 325, New Jersey 07856.

23. DKSH North America is “a leading ingredients and specialty chemicals

distributor” which “provides a broad portfolio of ingredients and specialty chemicals[.]” Ex. 4,

DKSH Press Release, “DKSH strengthens North American presence with relocation of main

office and innovation center,” Mar. 23, 2018 at 1.

24. On information and belief, DKSH, either itself and/or through the activities of its

affiliates, is in the business of importing into the United States Jennewein’s human milk

oligosaccharide 2'-FL that is manufactured outside the United States.

III. THE ASSERTED.PATENT

A. THE ’230 PATENT

1. Ownership and Asserted Claims of the ’230 Patent

25. United States Patent No. 9,453,230 (“the ’230 Patent”) is entitled “Biosynthesis of

human milk oligosaccharides in engineered bacteria,” and issued September 27, 2016, to

Glycosyn’s inventors Massimo Merighi, John M. McCoy, and Matthew Ian Heidtman. The ’230

Patent issued from United States Patent Application No. 13/398,526, filed on February 16, 2012.

A certified copy of the ’230 Patent is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit 1.

26. The U.S. Application No. 13/398,526 claims the benefit ofpriority under 35

U.S.C. § 119(e) to U.S. Provisional Application No. 61/443,470, filed February 16, 2011, which

is incorporated by reference in its entirety in the 13/398,526 application.

27. The ’230 Patent also incorporates by reference the following: the text file named

“37847505001US_ST25.txt,” which was created on March 9, 2012 and is 93.5 KB in size.
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28. All the inventors of the ‘Z30 Patent worked at Glycosyn at the time the 

13/398,526 application and Provisional Application No: 61/443,470, were filed.

29. By way of assignment, Complainant Glycosyn owns all rights, title, and interest

to the ’23OPatent. A certified copy of the assignment records of the ’230 Patent is attached to

the Complaint as Exhibit 2.

30. As of the filing date of this Complaint, Glycosyn is unaware of any security

interests attached to the ’23OPatent, as shown by the ’230 Patent’s assignment records. See

Exhibit 2.

31. In accordance with Commission Rules 210.12(c)(l)-(2), Appendix A to this

Complaint includes one certified and three additional copies of the United States Patent and

Trademark Office prosecution history for the ’23OPatent. Appendix B includes four copies of

the certified ’23OPatent and applicable pages of each technical reference mentioned in the

prosecution history of the ’230 Patent.

32. All maintenance fees for the ’230 Patent have been timely paid, and there are no

fees currently due.

33. The ’230 Patent has 40 claims, including two independent claims (1, 21), and 38

dependent claims. Glycosyn is asserting the following claims of the ’230 Patent against the

listed Respondents: '

t U.S.._PatentNo.}9,453,2305 -
l I l

Respondent t A 5 Asserted Claims
Jennewein 1-20, 21-40

I DKSH I 1-20, 21-40 l

1Independent claims in the chart are in bold.
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2. Licenses Relating to the ’230 Patent

34. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(9)(iii), Glycosyn states that

FrieslaridCampina Domo B.V. (“FrieslandCampina”) and Glycosyn Health Initiatives, Inc. are

licensees to the ’230 Patent.

35. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(iv), Glycosyn states that it is not

relying on any license agreement for the ’230 Patent to establish its standing to bring this

Complaint, nor to support its contention that a domestic industry exists or is in the process of

being established as a result of the domestic activities of any of its licensees.

3. Foreign Patents and Applications Corresponding to the ’230Patent

36. The ’230 Patent claims the benefit of priority to Provisional Application No.

61/443,470, filed on February 16, 2011.

37. In accordance with Commission Rule 210.l2(a)(9)(v), a list of foreign patents and

applications also claiming the benefit of priority to Provisional Application No. 61/443,470 are

listed below (the ’230 Patent in bold). Glycosyn owns all right, title, and interest in and to each

of the patents listed below. V

Number
US 9,453,230

Number Date
US 13./398,526 .9 I I /2012

Publication Application Publication Issue Date

8/ 160 9/27/2016

AU20122 17650 AU201202 l 7650 9/5/2013 5/4/2017

AU20172l0559 AU201702l0559 8/24/2017 /

CA2827313 CA20l22827313 8/23/2012

\

DE12746649 DEl2746649T 9/29/2016

\

DK2675899 DK20120746649T 8/22/2016

\

EP2675899 EP20120746649' 12/25/2013

\

JP6047505 JP20130554607 3/17/2014

>
l\J

/21/2016

JP2017093432 JP20160225751 6/1/2017

\

JP2017093453 JP20l60255725 6/1/2017

\

WO20l2l 12777 WO2012US25450 8/23/2012

\
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38. Glycosyn identifies above the only known foreign patents and applications

corresponding to the ’23OPatent. Glycosyn is unaware of any foreign patents or applications

corresponding to the ’230 Patent other than those identified above that have been issued,

abandoned, denied, or which remain pending.

4. Non-Technical Description of U.S. Patent N0. 9.453.230

39. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210. 12(a)(9)(vi), Glycosyn provides the following

non-technical description of the Asserted Patent. The non-technical description provided below

is provided solely for compliance with the Commission Rules and are not intended to limit,

define, or otherwise effect the construction and/or application of any claims of the Assorted

Patent.

40. Human milk contains a diverse and abundant set of oligosaccharides. The most

well-known of these human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) is the disaccharide lactose, also

known as milk sugar. Unlike lactose, many other HMOs are not utilized directly by infants for

nutrition, but research over the past decade has shown that they nevertheless serve critical roles

in the prevention of disease, in immune function, and in maintenance of a healthy gut

microbiome.

41. The most prevalent of these HMOs is 2'-fucosyllactose (2'-FL). As its chemical

name suggests, 2-fucosyllactose is comprised of a 6-membered filcose sugar bonded tothe

disaccharide lactose (specifically, to the 2' hydroxyl group of the glucose unit of lactose, the

other unit being galactose). i _

42. Studies have shown that 2'-FL can aid in protecting against infectious diseases in

infants. As a result, there has been an interest in, and a need for, production of large quantities of
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2'-FL to supplement infants who are fed only formula or whose mothers do not naturally produce

sufficient quantities of2'-FL in their milk.

43. Prior to the invention described in the ’230 Patent, it was difficult and expensive

to produce HMOs at large scale. For example, chemical synthesis of 2'-FL, which is composed

of three different sugar subunits, has proven to be very difficult due to stereochemistry issues,

impurities, and high cost. Thus, at the time of the ’230 patent, there was a pressing need for new

strategies to manufacture large quantities of HMOs in a cost-effective manner.

44. The ’23OPatent discloses compositions and methods for producing purified

HMOs, including 2'-FL, by utilizing an engineered E. coli bacterium.

45. Specifically for the production of large quantities of 2'-FL, several traits of the

bacterium must be engineered. First, the bacterium must produce large quantities of the two key

starting materials (fueose and lactose). Second, the bacterium must produce large quantities of

the enzyme that stitches together these starting materials together (a type of

“fucosyltransferase”). And third, the bacterium must possess other traits that aid in large-scale

biosynthesis or purification 0f2'-FL, such as the ability to transport lactose at the beginning of

the process across the bacterial cell membrane, and the ability to degrade excess lactose at the

end of the process so as not to interfere with purification

46. The end result is that the ’23OPatent enables the production of 2'-F L in high

purity and high quantity (>50 g/L) in bioreaetors. This is a commercially viable process that can

produce 2'-FL for use as a supplement in infant formula, milk, and other consumer products

9



IV. UNFAIR ACTS OF PROPOSED RESPONDENT JENNEWEIN - PATENT
INFRINGEMENT

47. Pursuant to Commission Rule 21O.12(a)(2), Glycosyn states the following facts

constituting the alleged unfair acts of proposed Respondent Jcnnewein under 19 U.S.C. §

l337(a)(l)(B)(ii).

48. The unfair acts involve Jennewein’s production, manufacture, importation into the

United States, the sale for importation into the United States, and/or the sale within the United

States after importation of its human milk oligosaccharide 2’-FL (“Jennewein 2'-FL”), produced

by a process that infringes the ’230 Patent, literally, or under the doctrine of equivalents.

49. In addition, end-user consumer infant formula products, which, on information

and belief, are produced in the United States and may incorporate Jennewein 2’-FL as an

ingredient in the United States,‘are common products and widely available for ‘purchaseon the

open market.

50. In lieu of providing physical samples of the accused Jennewein 2'-FL, Glycosyn

is providing charts comparing claims of the ’230 Patent to the production process utilized to

produce Jennewein 2'-FIQ.

51. Pursuant to § 210. 12(a)(9)(viii), the following exemplary chart comparing claims

of the ’23OPatent to the exemplary Jennewein product is provided with this Complaint. A chart

that applies independent claims 1 and 21 of the ’23OPatent to the representative accused product

is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit 5. Ex. 5, ’230 Patent Claim Chart for Jennewein 2'-FL.

52. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(x), Glycosyn’s claim chart for

Jennewein 2'-FL (Ex. 5) contains photographs of the exemplary infringing 2'-FL produced by

Jennewein, and, on information and belief, various pieces of equipment used in the production of

2’-FL by Jennewein. See, e.g., Ex. 6, Food Ingredients lst, Photograph of Jennewein’s 2'-FL
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Presented at Vitafoods Asia in Singapore, September 2017 (Sept. 5, 2017) available at

https://twitter.com/Foodlnglst/status/905237754l32414464; Ex. 7, Ralph Amman, “Achieving

the impossible,” European Daily Magazine at 30-31 (May 2017).

53. Upon information and belief, Jennewein 2'-FL is produced by Jennewein utilizing

a process that directly and/or indirectly infringes, literally, or under the doctrine ofequivalents,

at least the Asserted Claims.

54. Glycosyn is providing the Commission, in conjunction with this Complaint, the

claim chart (Ex. 5) that demonstrates that the following exemplary Jennewein product infringes,

either directly or indirectly, literally, or under the doctrine of equivalents, the following claims of

the ’23OPatent (independent claims in bold):

'Resp_'0inde‘nti C3 ‘-Product i‘ " 1230 Patent V_
Jennewein | 2'-FL 1-20, 21-40

55. The identification of specific model names or product codes is not intended to

limit the scope of the Investigation. The Commission’s Investigation and any remedy should

extend to all infringing products with any corresponding model name or product code in use by

Jennewein.

56. On information and belief Respondent Jennewein is engaged in the production,

manufacture, importation, sale for importation into United States and/or the sale within the

United States after importation of 2'-FL, produced by a process that infringes literally, or under

the doctrine of equivalents, claims l-40 of the ’230 Patent.

57. Upon information and belief, Respondent Jennewein has sold its infringing

products in the United States, and/or imported its infringing products into the United States,

including its 2’-FL HMO, directly and/or through distributors and/or resellers.
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58. On information and belief, Respondent Jennewein, either by itself or through

distributors and/or resellers, purposefully directs sales, and/or the importation of its infringing

products, including its 2'-FL HMO, toward the United States.

59. According to publicly available records at the United States Food and Drug

Administration (“FDA”), on or about March 2, 2015, Jennewein sought a determination that its

2'-FL HMO was “Generally Recognized as Safe" (“GRAS”) for use in infant and toddler

formulas in the United States. Ex. 8, FDA GRAS Notice No. 571, at Cover Letter.

60. As stated by .l6I1I16W6lI1in this March 2015 FDA submission (hereinafter, “the

GRAS Notice”), “Jennewein will make commercially available two versions of the Jennewein

2'-FL product: a spray-dried lyophilized powder and a liquid concentrate with a 45% 2'-FL

content. Jennewein intends to market their 2' FL ingredient as ‘2’-fucosyllactose powder’ and

‘2'-fucosyllactose concentrate.’” Ex. 8 at 000001.

61. As further stated by Jennewein in the GRAS Notice, “Jennewein intends to

provide 2'-FL as an ingredient to manufacturers of infant and toddler formulas in the United

States.” Id. V

62. On information and belief, Jermewein’s GRAS Notice for its 2’-FL HMO product

was subsequently approved by FDA on or about November 2015. According to Jennewein’s

Website, “[i]n November 2015, Jennewein Biotechnologie received market approval from the

FDA for its first product, 2’-fucosyllactose, for applications in infant and toddler nutrition.” Ex.

9, Jennewein, “Living the impossible,” available at http://jennewein-biotech.de/en/about

us/from-the-laboratorv-into -the-world/. '

63. Jennewein has stated that it placed its 2'-FL HMO product into the stream of

commerce in the summer of 2016 with the expectation that it would be purchased and used in an
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infringing manner throughout the United States. According to Jennewein’s website, “[i]n

summer 2016, the world’s first infant formula containing the HMO 2'-fucosyllactose went on

sale in the US.” Id. 

64. Also, according to Jennewein’s website, “[a]t long last, one of the most beneficial

ingredients in human nutrition is now available to all infants, including those that cannot be

breast fed.” Id.

65. According to Jermewein’s website, “Jennewein Biotechnologie produces 2’

Fucosyllactose on a commercial scale.” Ex. 10, “Human Milk Oligosaccharides,” available at

http://jennewein-biotech.de/efi/products/human-milk-oligosaccharides/2-fucosyllactose/.

66. According to the European Investment Bank, JenneWein’s “production facilities

and other operations are based in Rheinbreitbach, Germany.” Ex. ll, European Investment Bank

Press Release, “EIB lends EUR 10 million to Jennewein Bioteclmologie, a German producer of

healthy sugars,” Dec. 2, 2015, available at

http://www.eib.org/infocentre/press/releases/all/2015/2015-285-eib-lends-cur-10-million-to

jennewein-biotechnologie-a-german-producer-of-healthy-sugars.htm.

67. According to the European Investment Bank, Jennewein received a €10 million

loan in late 2015 that “will enable the company to build a commercial-scale production plant for

complex sugars of the type that is only found in human breast milk[,]” specifically, “sugars,

which are also known as human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), [which] differ from simple

sugars in that they have numerous health benefits: they reduce bacterial and viral infections,

decrease the risk of allergies and inflammation, and promote brain development.” Id.

68. According to European Daily Magazine, Jennewein has 70 employees at its

Rheinbrietbach, Germany production facilities, where Jennewein produces its 2'-FL on an

13



“industrial-scale[.]” Ex. 7, Ralph Amman, “Achieving the impossible,” European Daily

Magazine at 30-31 (May 2017).

69. According to Jennewein’s website, “[o]ur products are sold all over the world. In

some countries, Jennewein Bioteehnologie uses local distribution and sales partners.” Ex. 12,

Jennewein, “Getting in Touch with us,” at 2, available at http://jennewein

biotech.de/en/contact/.

70. On information and belief, JenneWein’s 2’-FL HMO product is marketed, inter

alia, under the brand-name “Mum’s Sweet Secret.” According to the Mum’s Sweet Secret

website, “Jennewein Bioteehnologie now offers the first food-quality biotechnological produced

human milk oligosaccharides, 2’-fucosyllaetose, which is available at affordable prices and

sufficient quantities to be used as a food ingredient.” Ex. 13, “About Mum's Sweet Secret,”

available at http://mums-sweet-secret.com/about-mums-sweet-secret/.

71. According to European Daily Magazine, “[t]oday, Jennewein Bioteehnologie

markets its self-produced HMO under the brand Mum‘s Sweet Secret in the US, Asia and

Europe.” Ex. 7, Ralph Amman, “Achieving the impossible,” European Daily Magazine at 31

(May 2017).

72. On information and belief, according to the United States Patent and Trademark

Office, Jennewein filed for a United States trademark for “Mum’s Sweet Secret” on July 30,

2014, received a registration for that trademark in September 8, 2015, and currently owns the

mark “Mum’s Sweet Secret” for claimed goods/services including “milk fermentsfor industrial

purposes[,]...[and] food for babies[.]” Ex. 14, “Mum’s Sweet Secret” U.S. trademark

registration.
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73. Accordin to Jennewein’s website for some countries, Jennewein has “local,

partner[s]” for any customer’s “respective region or country[.]” ‘Ex. 15, Jcnnewein, “Contact,

Productsfor the use in cosmetics and pharmaceuticals,” available at http://jennewein

biotech.de/en/contact/network/kosmetika-und-pharmazeutik-2/.

74. According to Jennewein’s website, Jennewein’s local partner in the Unites States

for “Cosmetics/Pharma” is DKSH, a distribution company located in New Jersey. Id.

According to JenneWein’swebsite, Jennewein 2'-FL can be used in “pharmaceutical products.”

Ex. 16, Jennewein “Saccharides for the Use in Pharmaceutical Products,” available at

http://jennewein-biotech.de/en/anwendungen-english/pharmaceutical-products/

75. According to Jennewein’s website, Jennewein has presented at Supply Side West,

on September 25 through 29, 2017 in Las Vegas, Nevada, “where economy and science meet

each other.” Ex. 17, Jennewein Biotechnologie, Press Release dated July 20, 2017, available at

http://jennewein-biotech.de/en/suppb/-side-west-las-vegas/ (“Supply Side West, Las Vegas");

Ex. 18, Supply Side West 201-7Exhibitor Listing at 12, available at

https://Web.archiveorg/web/20170917023034/https://west.supplysideshow.com/en/exhibitor

ml (listing“JenneweinBiotechnologieGmbH”at boothnumberEl 15).

76. On November 15, 2017, the CEO of Jennewein, Stefan Jennewein, delivered a

presentation at the Microbiome Human Nutrition Summit in Boston, Massachusetts, entitled

“Human Mile Oligosaccharides (HMOs) Nature’s Prebiotics for a Healthy Infant Microbiome.”

Ex. 19, Microbiome Human Nutrition Summit Agenda, Day One at 5.

77. In addition, Jennewein has presented at the Future Food Tech Conference in San

Francisco, California on March 22-23, 2018, and will again be presenting in Boston,
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Massachusetts, at the Arrowhead Transnational Microbiome Conference on April 18-20, 2018.

Ex. 20, Jennewein Biotechnologie website, available at http://jennewein-biotech.de/en/ at l-2.

V. UNFAIR ACTS‘OF PROPOSED RESPONDENT DKSH —PATENT
INFRINGEMENT

78. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(2), Glycosyn incorporates by reference

W 47-77, supra, and slates the following facts constituting the alleged unfair acts of proposed

Respondent DKSH under 19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(l)(B)(ii).

79. The unfair acts involve DKSH’s importation into the United States, the sale for

importation into the United States, and/or the sale within the United States after importation of

Jennewein’s human milk oligosaccharide 2'-FL (“Jennewein 2'-FL”), produced by a process that

infringes, literally, or under the doctrine of equivalents, the ’230 Patent.

80. In addition, end-user consumer infant formula products, which, on information

and belief, are produced in the United States and may incorporate Jennewein 2'-FL as an

ingredient in the United States, are common products and widely available for purchase on the

open market.

81. According to Jennewein’s website, for some countries, Jennewein has “local

pa1tner[s]” for any customer’s “respective region or country[.]” Ex. 15, Jennewein, “Contact,

Products for the use in cosmetics and pharmaceuticals,” available at http://jennewein

biotech.de/en/contact/network/kosmetika-und-pharmazeutik-2/.

82. According to Jennewein’s website, Jennewein’s local partner in the Unites States

for “Cosmetics/Pharma” is DKSH, a distribution company located in New Jersey. Id.

According to Jennewein’s website, Jennewein 2'-FL can be used in “pharmaceutical products.”

EX. 16, Jennewein “Saccharides for the Use in Pharmaceutical Products,” available at

http://jenncwein-biotech.de/en/anwendungen-english/pharmaceutical-products/
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VI. UNFAIR ACTS OF PROPOSED RESPONDENTS - SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF
SALE AND IMPORTATION

83. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(3), as set forth above, Glycosyn has

identified exemplary products produced by Jemiewein by a process that infringes each asserted

claim of the ’23OPatent. Further, as set forth above, Respondents have and continue to

specifically target the United States market for sales and imports of Jennewein 2’-FL.

84. Further, as set forth below, Glycosyn has demonstrated specific instances in

which the exemplary product identified above has been imported into the United States, sold for

importation into the United States, and/or sold within the United States after importation.

85. Glycosyn believes that further discovery will likely reveal other specific acts of

Respondents’ importation and/or sale after importation of the accused product that infringes the

’230 Patent.

86. Upon information and belief, Respondent Jennewein develops, manufactures and

has manufactured its 2'-FL outside of the United States and Respondent Jennewein and/or

Respondent DKSH import into the United States, sell for importation into the United States,

and/or sell within the United States after importation, Jennewein’s 2'-FL.

87. Upon information and belief, Respondent Jemewein offers its 2'-FL for sale to

business entities such as infant and baby formula manufacturers. Respondent Jennewein knows

or should know that its 2’-FL that it provides to the business entities will be imported into the

United States and/or sold within the United States as part ofa consumer product in the United

States market.

88. Upon information and belief, at the Future Food Tech Conference in San

Francisco, California on March 22-23, 2018, Jennewein displayed samples of its 2’-FL at its
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trade show booth. See Ex. 21, Future Food-Tech March 22-23, 2018 website, available at

https://futurefoodtechsfcom/gallery-day-one/ (photograph of .lennewein’s booth).

89. Additionally, upon information and belief, samples of Jennewein 2'-FL have been

imported into the United States for testing purposes. At least one example of this includes

samples of .lennewein’s 2'-FL sent to at least two scientists for testing in Columbus, Ohio in

2014. Ex. 22, Hanlon & Thorsrud, “A 3-week pre-clinical study of 2'-fucosyllactose in farm

piglets,” Food and Chemical Toxicology at 344 (2014) (“Test diets consisted of the test article,

2’-fucosyllaetose (Jennewein Biotechonologie, Rheinbreitbach, Germany). . .To verify

formulation concentrations, samples of all diets, including controls, were collected from the first

and last dosing formulations, and sent to Abbott Nutrition, Columbus, Ohio, for analysis of 2'

fucosyllactose.”). _

90. Thus, Respondents are violating Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 by

infringing the Asserted Patent by producing, manufacturing or having manufactured, importing

into the United States, selling for importation into the United States, and/or selling within the

United States after importation, Jennewein’s 2’-FL.

VII. HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE INFORMATION

91. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(3), on information and belief, the articles

subject to this Complaint are classifiable under at least the following headings and subheadings

of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule (“HTS”) of the United States: HTS Numbers. 1901.10.05

(Preps for infant use, for retail sale, 0/10% milk solids, subject to gen. note 15); 1901.10.15

(Preps for infant use, infant formula containing oligossaccharides and > 10% milk solids);

1901.10.30 (Infant formula w/oligossaccharides, for retail sale, 0/10% milk solids, not subject to
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add US note 2 to Ch. l9, not GN155); 1901.10.60 (Infant formula w/oligossaccharides, for retail

sale, n/o 10% milk solids, subject to add US note 2 to Ch. 19, not GN15 ); and 1901.10.75

(Infant formula w/oligossaccharides, for retail sale, n/o 10% milk solids, not subject to add US

note 2 to Ch. 19, not GN15).

92. These HTS identifications are for illustrative purposes only in compliance with

the Commission Rules and are not intended to restrict the scope of the investigation.

VIII. RELATED LITIGATION

93. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2lO.l2(a)(5), Complainant Glycosyn states that it is

asserting the ’230 Patent in an action filed recently in the United States District Court for the

District of Massachusetts, against Jennewein. See Glycosyn, Inc. v. Jennewein 1nc., er al., Case

No. 1:18-cv-10423, D. Mass. (filed March 5, 2018).

94. Other than the litigations specified above, to Glycosyn’s knowledge, the ‘Z30

Patent is not, and has not been, the subject of any current or prior litigation.
\\_/

IX. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY RELATING TO THE ’230 PATENT

95. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2lO.l2(a)(6), Glycosyn states that it has a domestic

industry that exists in the ’230 Patent based on Glycosyn’s domestic activities related to plant

and equipment, labor and capital, and research and development related to Glycosyn’s

production process for Glycosyn 2’-FL.

A. DomesticIndustry - Technical Prong

96. Glycosyn produces, manufactures and has manufactured, Glycosyn 2'-FL by a

production process directly or indirectly at least the following claims of the ’230 Patent:

*PATENT”( ASSERTED"CLAIM$‘..t.;;..... A .
9,453,230 I 1-20, 21-40
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97. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(9)(ix), attached to this Complaint are

claim charts comparing exemplary claims of the ’23OPatent to the Glycosyn 2'-FL domestic

industry product. A chart that applies independent claims l and 21 of the ’230 Patent to the 2'

FL domestic industry product is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit 23. See also Ex. 24, FDA

GRAS Notice No. 735.

B. Domestic Industry —-Economic Prong

98. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(6)(i), Glycosyn currently conducts

significant and substantial domestic industry activities in the United States relating to its

production process for its 2’-FL product. Glycosyn also will continue these investment activities,

and anticipates making significant and substantial investments related to its production process

for its 2’-FL product in the future. These activities include Glycosyn’s significant investments in

plant and equipment, and labor or capital, related to the production process for Glycosyn 2’-FL

product. As demonstrated above, Glycosyn 2'-FL is produced by a process covered by the

claims of the ’23OPatent. '

99. Glycosyn also has substantial investments in research and development activities

related to its production process for its Glycosyn 2’-FL product, covered by the ’23OPatent.

100. All of the investments Glycosyn has made related to the production process of its

Glycosyn 2’-FL were necessary to bring the Glycosyn 2'-FL product to market, and Glycosyn

continues to invest in its Glycosyn 2’-FL product such that Glycosyn expects its 2’-FL product to

reach the market infant formulas in 2018.

1. Plant and Eguigment

101. Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(6)(i)(A), Glycosyn’s significant

investments in plant and equipment as they relate to its 2'-FL product are set forth with
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particularity in Declaration of Howard M. Newburg (“Newburg Decl.”), attached as Confidential

Exhibit 3C, at 111136-47, see also Ex. 3C-3 through 3C-6. As demonstrated in Confidential

Exhibit 3C, Glycosyn has a domestic industry due to its significant investments in plant and

equipment as they relate to the production process of its 2'-FL product.

2. Labor or Capital

102. Pursuant to Commission Rule 21O.12(a)(6)(i)(B), Glycosyn’s significant

investments in labor or capital as they relate to its production process for its 2’-FL product are set

forth with particularity in Confidential Exhibit 3C, at W 8, 11, 14-35, see also Ex. 3C-1 through

3C-2. As demonstrated in Confidential Exhibit 3C, Glycosyn has a domestic industry in its

significant investments in labor or capital as they relate to the production process of its 2'-FL

product. 1 -

3. Research & Development 

103. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(6)(i)(C), Glycosyn’s substantial

investments in research and development as they relate to the ’230 Patent are set forth with

particularity in Confidential Exhibit 3C, at {[118, 11, 14-51, see also Ex. 3C-1 through 3C-8. As

demonstrated in Confidential Exhibit 3C, Glycosyn has a domestic industry due to its substantial

investments in research and development as they relate to the ’230 Patent.

104. Confidential Exhibit 3C, and Exhibits 23 and 24, further demonstrate that there

exists a nexus between the ’230 Patent and Glycosyn’s domestic research and development

activities and expenses.
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RELIEF REQUESTED

105 WHIIREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Glycosyn requests that the United

States International Trade Commission:

a Institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of

1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to Respondents’

violations of Section 337 based on the design, manufacture, importation

into the United States, the sale for importation into the United States, sale

within the United States after importation, and instruction of purchasers on

the use of any articles, and components thereof, that infringe one or more

claims of the ’230 Patent; 1

Schedule and conduct an evidentiary hearing on permanent relief pursuant

to 19 U.S.C. § l337(d) and (t) ofthe TariffAct of 1930, as amended;

Issue a Limited Exclusion Order specifically directed to each named

Respondent, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § l337(d), excluding from entry into

the United States any articles that infringe the ’230 Patent;

Issue permanent cease and desist orders pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(1)

prohibiting each domestic Respondent from importing, selling, offering

for sale (including via the Internet or electronic mail), advertising

(including via the lntemet or electronic mail), distributing, or soliciting

any articles that infringe one or more claims of the ’230 Patent;

Impose a bond upon Respondents who continue to import infringing

articles during the 60-day-Presidential review period per 19 U.S.C.

§ 1337(j); and issue such other and further relief as the Commission deems
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just and proper under the law, based upon the facts determined by the

investigation and the authority of the Commission.
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